IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ROBERT GUERRINA Appellant,))))	SUPREME COURT NO.	7144	FILED
vs. STATE OF NEVADA,)))))	APPEAL		APR 1 0 2017 ELIZABETH A. BROWN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT BY DEPUTY CLERK
Respondent.))))	DISTRICT COURT NO.	C-308)8561

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

SANDRA L. STEWART Attorney at Law Nevada Bar. No: 6834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656 Attorneys for Appellant

1

17-11784

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. <u>BASIS FOR APPELLATE JURISDICTION</u>

NRAP 4(b); NRS 177.015(3)

B. FILING DATES ESTABLISHING TIMELINESS OF APPEAL

09-29-16: Judgment of Conviction filed²

09-29-16: Notice of Appeal filed³

C. ASSERTION OF FINAL ORDER OR JUDGMENT

This appeal is from a judgment of conviction.

Π

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict that involves convictions for offenses that are Category A and B felonies. As such, this case is not within those categories presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b).

¹ Hereafter GA shall refer to Guerrina Appendix.

² GA/5/1071.

GA/5/1075.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether GUERRINA's 6th amendment right to represent himself was violated requiring reversal of his conviction where such request was denied as untimely even though it was made several weeks before trial began.

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether GUERRINA's 5th and 14th amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his conviction for kidnapping where the conviction was not supported by the evidence because the movement of the victim was incidental to the robbery.

ISSUE NO. 3: Whether GUERRINA's 5th and 14th amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his enhancement convictions for use of a deadly weapon where there was no evidence that GUERRINA had a deadly weapon.

ISSUE NO. 4: Whether GUERRINA's 5th and 14th amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his coercion conviction where the conviction was not supported by the evidence.

ISSUE NO. 5: Whether GUERRINA's 5th and 14th amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his convictions where exculpatory evidence was not preserved by the state.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

IV

A. <u>NATURE OF THE CASE</u>

This is a case of mistaken identity where the victim believed that she was robbed by a man who had been a co-worker at Fast Bucks, where she was working when the store was robbed on July 13, 2015.⁴ She concluded that something white the man was carrying at the time of the robbery was a knife, although she never saw a knife blade, and was never threatened with the object. The man stood at the entrance door to the store and directed the victim to retrieve all money in the store and bring it back to him. He then poured some bleach on the floor in front of the door, left with the money and locked the door from the outside, whereupon the victim used the store telephone to call 9-1-1 for help.

B. <u>COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS</u>

Please see the Appendix table of contents which is sorted chronologically.

4

C. <u>DISPOSITION BY THE COURT BELOW⁵</u>

COUNT	CHARGE	SENTENCE
1	Burglary w/use	2-7 yrs
2	First degree kidnapping w/use	5-15 plus 2-5 consec
3	Robbery w/use	3-8 plus 3-8 consec
4	Coercion	1-3

All counts to run concurrent. Guerrina will not be eligible for parole until he has served at least seven years in prison.

V

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Cuevas (victim) was robbed by a man when she went to work at Fast Bucks to get the previous day's money to deposit at the bank before the store opened for business.⁶ When she arrived, a man approached her and took the keys to the store from her and went inside with her. He stood inside the store near the front door and directed Cuevas to get the money for him. He was holding something white in his hand, which Cuevas assumed was a knife, though the perpetrator never threatened her with it and she never saw a knife blade. Cuevas went to the back of the store by herself, retrieved the money and took it to the man still standing at the door. After she gave him the money, he told her to unplug the phone and throw it

Taken from the Information (GA/1/57) and the Judgment Of Conviction (GA/5/1071).
 GA/1/600.

on the floor which she did. He then dumped some liquid on the floor between Cuevas and the door, after which he exited the store and locked the door from the outside, locking Cuevas inside the store. Cuevas plugged the phone back in and called 9-1-1.

Cuevas began working at Fast Bucks on December 19, 2014.⁷ She first met Guerrina who also worked at Fast Bucks at a manager's meeting the end of December, 2014.⁸ She saw him again at another manager's meeting several months later.⁹ She had only seen Guerrina those two times.¹⁰ She never worked with him at a Fast Bucks location.¹¹ The robbery occurred on July 13, 2015.¹² Cuevas did not tell the 9-1-1 operator that she knew the perpetrator.¹³ Later, she told police that Guerrina was the perpetrator and the police showed her his driver's license photo which she positively identified.

The state added a coercion charge because the perpetrator ordered Cuevas to unplug a telephone and throw it on the ground, concluding that the reason for doing that was to prevent Cuevas from calling for help.¹⁴ However, the evidence

7	GA/1/44.
8	GA/1/44.
9	GA/1/45.
10	GA/1/49.
11	

- GA/1/43-44.
- GA/1/126.
- ¹³ GA/1/45.
- ¹⁴ GA/1/52.

showed that all Fast Bucks stores also have a phone in the back area of the store. Guerrina, as a former employee of Fast Bucks knew that.

Guerrina was living at a Motel 6 on the date of the incident. Police reviewed video surveillance which showed Guerrina at the Motel 6 on that date, but failed to impound or obtain a copy of that video.¹⁵ The defense moved to dismiss the charges against Guerrina because the state failed to preserve that evidence. The state argued that it could produce the manager of the Motel 6 who would testify that the time when Mr. Guerrina was seen on the tape was not the time that the robbery was occurring at the Fast Bucks store.¹⁶ That witness was never provided. The motion to dismiss was denied.¹⁷

On July 1, 2016, Guerrina filed a motion to dismiss his attorney and to represent himself,¹⁸ because he did not feel that his attorney was doing things that needed to be done.¹⁹ He said he would need a continuance of the trial in order to contact witnesses that were out of state, and conduct other research and investigation.²⁰ The court denied the motion, stating that it was too close to trial and she was not going to continue the trial.²¹ At the time of that hearing on July

- GA/1/126.
- GA/1/186.
- GA/1/127.
- GA/1/204.
- ¹⁹ GA/2/239.
- ²⁰ GA/2/237-239.
- ²¹ GA/2/237, 239-240.

14, 2016, the trial was scheduled to begin on July 25, 2016.²² Five days later on July 19, 2016, Guerrina's counsel (Mr. Hughes) was not present for an important motion on admission of jail calls.²³ The court characterized the motion he had filed as "a little bit vague."²⁴ The attorney standing in for Guerrina's attorney (Mr. Brower) stated that he believed "Mr. Hughes would rather have been here to argue this himself."²⁵ Two days later on July 21, 2016, Mr. Hughes was still out of the jurisdiction and Mr. Brower again stood in for calendar call.²⁶ However, the state was having to explain the defense position regarding placing the case in overflow to the calendar call hearing.²⁷

MS. LAVELL: Your Honor, it's my understanding – and Mr. Brower was at a bit of a disadvantage because Mr. Hughes is in fact the attorney of record and the trial attorney where he is out of the jurisdiction currently. Mr. Brower had indicated at the last – when we were here the last time on the motion that this would not be overflow eligible however he subsequently he spoke to Mr. Hughes who now is not making that argument.²⁸

Mr. Brower admitted that he was at a disadvantage.²⁹ However, he did once

again raise Guerrina's desire to represent himself, which the court ignored.³⁰ As

22	GA/2/240.
23	GA/2/245
24	GA/2/245.
25	GA/2/247.
26	GA/2/254.
27	GA/2/254-255
28	GA/2/255.
29	GA/2/257.

the court was discussing trial setting, Mr. Brower advised that Mr. Hughes was going to be out of the jurisdiction until the following Tuesday (July 26, 2016), so that the trial could not possibly start on Monday (as scheduled) because he would not be arriving until 11:00 p.m. Monday night – the night before trial was to commence in a serious felony case.³¹ Mr. Hughes was out of the jurisdiction from at least July 19th, and was not scheduled to return by July 25th, the date he knew when he left the jurisdiction that trial was scheduled to commence in Guerrina's case.

On July 21, 2016, the case was sent to overflow.³² Trial commenced on August 1, 2016,³³ a full month after Guerrina first moved to dismiss his attorney and represent himself.

VI

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Guerrina had a Constitutional right to represent himself at trial, and it was reversible error for the court to deny him that request which was made four weeks before trial began.

The kidnapping count should be dismissed because movement of the victim was incidental to the robbery.

30	
. 50	GA/2/257.
31	GA/2/257.
	GA/2/257.

- ³² GA/2/258.
- ³³ GA/2/262.

All deadly weapon enhancements should be reversed because there was no credible evidence that the perpetrator had a knife or other deadly weapon.

The coercion charge based on the perpetrator telling the victim to throw a telephone on the floor should be dismissed because there was another telephone in the back of the store, and if one believes that Guerrina was the perpetrator, then one has to also believe that he knew about the second phone since he had been an employee of Fast Bucks and knew the layouts of the stores.

The entire case should be dismissed because the state failed to preserve critical exculpatory evidence.

VII

ARGUMENT

A. <u>GUERRINA DENIED RIGHT TO REPRESENT HIMSELF</u> (Standard of Review: Abuse of Discretion³⁴)

Guerrina felt that his attorney (Hughes) was not adequately representing his interests, and brought a motion to dismiss Hughes and represent himself. This motion was brought three weeks before trial was scheduled to begin,³⁵ and four weeks before trial actually commenced.³⁶ The stated reason was that counsel was

³⁶ GA/2/262.

³⁴ United States v. Kaczynski, 239 F.3d 1108, 1116 (9th Cir. 2001).

³⁵ GA/1/204; GA2/233.

ineffective,³⁷ he and his attorney had disagreements regarding trial strategy,³⁸ discovery had not been completed,³⁹ and witnesses had not been interviewed.⁴⁰ These concerns were somewhat born out by the fact that Hughes was out of the country the entire week before trial was to commence, and was not even due to return by the scheduled trial date.⁴¹ The only way his stand-in attorney could even reach him was via text messaging because he was out of the country.⁴² The Court denied the motion as untimely because Guerrina also requested a trial continuance to complete the work which had not been done by his attorney.⁴³ No representation was made by the state that a delay of the trial would in any way jeopardize its case.⁴⁴ All witnesses called by the state were local with the exception of Guerrina's ex-wife, who appeared by telephone from Florida.⁴⁵

"The right of self-representation finds support in the structure of the Sixth Amendment, as well as in the English and colonial jurisprudence from which the Amendment emerged."⁴⁶ The United States Supreme Court has stated that **a**

37 GA/1/205. 38 GA/2/237. 39 GA/2/233. 40 GA/2/238 41 GA/2/251, 254-259. 42 GA/2/257. 43 GA/2/239, 242. 44 GA/2/237-238. 45 GA/3/596; GA/4/665; GA/4/708; GA/4/828; GA/4/857, 864. 46

Faretta v. Cal., 422 U.S. 806, 817-818 (U.S. 1975).

request to self-represent is timely if made weeks before trial.⁴⁷ (Emphasis

added)

The Ninth Circuit has acknowledged this timing rule:

Thus, after *Moore*, we know that *Faretta* clearly established some timing element, but we still do not know the precise contours of that element. At most, we know that *Faretta* requests made "weeks before trial" are timely.⁴⁸ (Emphasis added)

The Federal District court for Nevada has acknowledged that rule:

"Because the Supreme Court has not clearly established when a *Faretta* request is untimely, other courts are free to do so as long as their standards comport with the Supreme Court's holding that a request **'weeks before trial' is timely**." *Marshall v. Taylor*, 395 F.3d 1058, 1061 (9th Cir. 2005).⁴⁹ (Emphasis added)

This Court in *Lyons* has seemingly departed from the Supreme Court rule by holding that a request to self-represent must be made in sufficient time before trial so that a trial continuance would not be necessary.⁵⁰ This would mean that a request to self represent made **weeks before trial** would not have to be granted if such request would require a continuance of the trial. Such an interpretation would be in direct conflict with the United States Supreme Court holding in *Faretta* as followed by both the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and the Nevada Federal District Court.

⁴⁷ *Faretta, supra,* at 835.

⁴⁸ Marshall v. Taylor, 395 F.3d 1058, 1061 (9th Cir. Cal. 2005).

⁴⁹ *Clark v. Neven*, 171 F. Supp. 3d 1045, 1052 (D. Nev. 2016)

⁵⁰ Lyons v. State, 106 Nev. 438, 445-446 (Nev. 1990).

However, a difference between *Lyons* and the case at bar is that in *Lyons* the request to self-represent was made the day of trial, whereas in this case Guerrina brought his motion to self represent four weeks before trial commenced. The only way to square *Lyons* with the rule set forth by the United States Supreme Court is to limit it to the facts of that case, where the request was made the day of trial. It cannot be applied to the case at bar where the request was made "weeks before trial," regardless of whether or not a continuance was requested. As a matter of law, pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Faretta*, the request was timely because it was made **weeks before trial** commenced.

Accordingly, the failure of the trial court to grant Guerrina's request was a denial of Guerrina's Sixth Amendment right to represent himself and constituted reversible error as a matter of law, requiring this Court to reverse Guerrina's convictions and remand this matter to the district court for a new trial.

B. <u>KIDNAPING COUNT NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE</u>

(Standard of Review: de novo)⁵¹

The United States and Nevada Constitutions both require that the state show **beyond a reasonable doubt** that a person has committed a crime in order to

⁵¹ United States v. Shipsey, 363 F.3d 962, 971 n.8 (9th Cir. 2004); United States v. Naghani, 361 F.3d 1255, 1261 (9th Cir. 2004); United States v. Odom, 329 F.3d 1032, 1034 (9th Cir. 2003).

achieve a conviction.⁵² This Court is imbued with the power to review the evidence in order to determine whether the state has satisfied its burden.⁵³

The standard of review on appeal of a criminal conviction based on insufficiency of the evidence is whether, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."⁵⁴

In this case, Guerrina was convicted of both robbery and kidnapping. This Court has held that "...to sustain convictions for both robbery and kidnapping arising from the same course of conduct, any movement or restraint must stand alone with independent significance from the act of robbery itself, create a risk of danger to the victim substantially exceeding that necessarily present in the crime of robbery, or involve movement, seizure or restraint substantially in excess of that necessary to its completion. ⁵⁵

The Information asserts that the underlying offense to the kidnaping was robbery.⁵⁶ NRS 200.380 defines robbery as "... the unlawful taking of personal property from the person of another, or in the person's presence, against his or her

⁵² Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979); Oriegel-Condido v. State, 114 Nev. 378, 382 (1998); Carl v. State, 100 Nev. 164, 165 (1984).

⁵³ State v. VanWinkle, 6 Nev. 340, 350 (1871).

⁵⁴ Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) [conviction of a crime without sufficient evidence that each element has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment]. n8

⁵⁵ *Mendoza v. State*, 122 Nev. 267, 275 (2006).

⁵⁶ GA/1/53.

will, by means of force or violence or fear of injury, immediate or future, to his or her person or property, or the person or property of a member of his or her family, or of anyone in his or her company at the time of the robbery. A taking is by means of force or fear if force or fear is used to: (a) Obtain or retain possession of the property; (b) Prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; or (c) Facilitate escape." In this case, all acts undertaken by the perpetrator were in furtherance of the robbery, and did not create a greater risk of harm to Cuevas than necessary to complete the act of robbery and escape from the scene.

In order to get into the building, the perpetrator had to get the keys from Cuevas, and in order to get the money from the store, he had to instruct Cuevas to obtain the money for him.⁵⁷ Those acts had no independent significance from the underlying crime and did not create any greater risk of harm to Cuevas. There was no allegation that the perpetrator ever even touched Cuevas. And, in directing her away from him to where the money was located in the back of the store while he stood waiting in the front of the store,⁵⁸ she was actually moving away from the danger toward a window through which she could have escaped. The perpetrator stood in the same place at all times, and Cuevas brought the money to him after she obtained it from the back of the store.⁵⁹

⁵⁹ GA/3/623-624.

⁵⁷ GA/3/608, 612.

⁵⁸ GA/3/616-619.

The perpetrator then committed the additional acts of pouring bleach on the floor in front of the door, directing Cuevas to unplug the phone, and then locking the door after he left the scene. These acts were also done in furtherance of the robbery in order to "facilitate escape." They did not increase any risk of harm to Cuevas because (1) there was a window in the back of the store through which she could have escaped so she was not trapped inside the store, (2) the bleach was not toxic as it was lying on the floor, and (3) there were two phones in the store, one of which Cuevas actually used to call 9-1-1.

For the foregoing reasons, Guerrina's conviction for kidnaping must be reversed as a matter of law based on the facts of the case, without remand on that count.

C. <u>NO DEADLY WEAPON</u>

(Standard of Review: de novo⁶⁰)

Claims of convictions which are supported by insufficient evidence are reviewed de novo.⁶¹ "The Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged".⁶²

Guerrina was convicted of burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon,

⁶⁰ United States v. Erskine, 355 F.3d 1161, 1166 (9th Cir. 2004).

- ⁶¹ United States v. Shipsey, 363 F.3d 962, 971 n.8 (9th Cir. 2004).
- ⁶² Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477 (U.S. 2000).

kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon, and robbery with use of a deadly weapon.⁶³ The deadly weapon in question was purported to be a knife. However, there was no evidence that Guerrina ever had a knife. Cuevas said that she saw the perpetrator carrying something with a white handle, about three inches long. He never threatened her with the object he was holding in his hand.⁶⁴ She said "there was no blade."⁶⁵ She admitted that she was not sure that it was actually a knife that he was holding.⁶⁶ It could have been a folding comb.⁶⁷ It could have been a corkscrew.⁶⁸ It could have simply been a piece of white plastic. No knife was ever found among Guerrina's belongings.⁶⁹

In *Smith v. State*, this Court held in an unpublished decision that where no knife was actually seen by a potential victim and no knife was found when the assailant was arrested, there was insufficient evidence to sustain deadly weapon enhancements.⁷⁰ The actual testimony as cited by this Court in that case was:

⁶³ GA/5/1071.
⁶⁴ GA/3/611.
⁶⁵ GA/3/648.
⁶⁶ GA/4/650.
⁶⁷ GA/4/650.

GA/4/649.

⁶⁹ GA/4/746.

^{Smith v. State, 2014 Nev. Unpub. Lexis 387, 4-5, 2014 WL 989701 (Nev. 2014).}

He further testified that, although it appeared Smith had something in his hand when he was tampering with the cash register, he did not see Smith with a knife or any sort of weapon. Mr. Pochowski also testified that, after he chased Smith into the parking lot, Smith confronted him, took up a fighting stance, and threatened to cut Mr. Pochowski with a knife if he did not back off. Mr. Pochowski testified that Smith appeared to have something in his right hand and he presumed it was a knife based on Smith's stance and statement, but he could not fully see Smith's hand or identify what the object was because Smith had his hand angled behind his back. No other person testified that they observed Smith with a knife or other weapon. And officers testified that, upon Smith's arrest, no **knife** or **deadly weapon** was found.⁷¹

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