### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ROBERT GUERRINA,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Aug 14 2017 03:04 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 71444

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SANDRA L. STEWART, ESQ. Attorney at Law Nevada Bar #006834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying Appellant's request for self-representation. This Court has held that denial of a motion for self-representation is not an abuse of discretion if the motion is untimely or made for the

purposes of delay. Appellant's request was untimely and granting it would have necessitated another continuance of the trial. Appellant delayed until three weeks before trial to file the motion, but offered no reasonable cause for the delay. Therefore, this claim should be denied.

Second, the evidence was not insufficient to support Appellant's convictions for Kidnapping, Coercion, and the deadly weapon enhancement. There was substantial evidence introduced at trial to support the guilty verdict, including but not limited to, that when Appellant forced Ana into the store, he substantially increased the risk of harm to her. The jury also heard that Appellant had a switchblade knife and forced Ana to give him over \$1,000. Ana testified that she only did so because she was afraid of him and the knife. When viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any reasonable juror would have found Appellant guilty of these crimes. Therefore, this claim should be denied.

Finally, the State did not improperly fail to preserve the Motel 6 video footage. The evidence that Appellant claims should have been preserved—video of Appellant leaving his motel on the day of the robbery—is not material nor is it exculpatory. Additionally, the State did not act in bad faith regarding this video. Appellant also fails to meet his burden of showing that he was prejudiced. Therefore, this claim should be denied.

### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO REPRESENT HIMSELF

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." However, a defendant can waive the right to counsel and, if he chooses to represent himself, he must satisfy the court that his waiver of the right to counsel is knowing and voluntary. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 818-19, 835, 95 S. Ct. 2525 (1975); Vanisi v. State, 117 Nev. 330, 337-38, 22 P.3d 1164, 1169-70 (2001). In assessing a waiver of the right to counsel, the inquiry is whether the defendant can knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to counsel, not whether the defendant can competently represent himself. Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997, 1000-01, 946 P.2d 148, 150 (1997). A defendant's technical knowledge is not relevant to the inquiry and a request for self-representation may not be denied solely because the defendant lacks legal skills. Id.

The ability to waive the right to counsel is not absolute. A request may be denied if the request is equivocal, the defendant abuses his right by disrupting the judicial process, or the defendant is incompetent to waive his right to counsel. <u>Id.</u>
The district courts also have the discretion to deny a defendant's request to represent themselves if the request is untimely. <u>See O'Neill v. State</u>, 123 Nev. 9, 18, 153 P.3d 38, 44 (2007) (affirming denial of self-representation request due to untimeliness of

request); see also Vanisi, 117 Nev. at 338, 22 P.3d at 1170 ("A court may also deny a request for self-representation if the request is untimely, equivocal, or made solely for purposes of delay or if the defendant is disruptive."). A district court should be permitted, in its discretion, to deny a request for self-representation on the ground of untimeliness alone, if the request is not made within a reasonable time before commencement of trial or hearing and there is no showing of reasonable cause for the lateness of the request. Lyons v. State, 106 Nev. 438, 445-46, 796 P.2d 210, 214 (1990)

In this case, the district court denied Appellant's request for self-representation because the request was untimely and would have resulted in delay. As required, the district court specified the rationale for denying Appellant's request, noting that it was untimely and that constantly appointing new attorneys absent some showing from Appellant would lead to unnecessary extensions:

THE COURT: Okay. Well, sir, I am denying your Pro Per Motion of Waiver and/or Dismissal of counsel and to represent yourself, we're getting too soon to the trial. You should have thought about this earlier. And he is the second lawyer that I've appointed and I'm not gonna get into the business of appointing lawyer, after lawyer, after lawyer, okay?

2 AA 239-40.

In <u>Lyons</u>, the defendant made an untimely request to represent himself.

Although the request in <u>Lyons</u> was made later than the request in this case (on the first day of trial), the consequences of the untimely request were the same. Lyons

had already been represented by multiple attorneys but kept finding fault with them. Here, Appellant was represented by at least two attorneys, but was dissatisfied with both. Lyons' request would have resulted in a delay of the trial, as it would have here. Finally, Lyons had no good reason or reasonable cause for making the untimely request. Similarly, Appellant offers no explanation for why his request for self-representation could not have been made earlier.

Instead of offering a showing of reasonable cause to explain the lateness of his request, Appellant argues that Nevada law—allowing for a finding of untimeliness if it would result in a delay—violates <u>Faretta</u>. In doing so, Appellant advocates an overly literal interpretation of <u>Faretta</u> where any request for self-representation should be entertained as timely as long as it is made "weeks" before the start of trial.<sup>2</sup> However, contrary to Appellant's interpretation of Marshall v.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In <u>Faretta</u>, the United States Supreme Court did not specify how many weeks before trial a request should be made, although there was likely a time component to the request, given that the Court cited the fact that Faretta's request was made "weeks before trial." <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 2541 (1975). In fact, Faretta's request was made so far ahead of trial that "several weeks" passed from the time that Faretta filed his motion to when the trial court held a hearing to inquire into Faretta's ability to conduct his own defense, and the hearing was still held before trial. <u>Faretta</u>, 422 U.S. at 807-08, 95 S. Ct. at 2527-28. Nothing in <u>Faretta</u> suggests that a defendant has the right to have a request to represent himself entertained when it would cause extensive delays. In fact, the critical time aspect in <u>Faretta</u> seemed to be that Faretta had sufficient time before trial to prepare an adequate defense, had the trial court granted his request. Here, in contrast, Appellant did not have sufficient time to craft a defense, and would have needed a continuance for an unspecified amount of time. Nothing in <u>Faretta</u>, or any other controlling case,

<u>Taylor</u>, 395 F.3d 1058, 12061 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. Cal. 2005), the Ninth Circuit has not—nor has any other court—adopted a test under which a request for self-representation is timely so long as it is made more than one week before the start of trial. Instead, the inquiry into whether a request for self-representation is timely is fact-specific. "<u>Faretta</u> does not articulate a specific time frame pursuant to which a claim for self-representation qualifies as timely,' nor does it preclude a consideration of factors other than the number of weeks before trial a self-representation motion was made." <u>Faultry v. Allison</u>, 623 F. App'x 315, 316 (9th Cir. 2015) (internal citations omitted).

Moreover, trial in this case had already been continued when the district court appointed new counsel after Appellant complained about appointment of the Public Defender's Office. 2 AA 236. In particular, Appellant claimed that the Public Defender's Office did not communicate well and had not turned materials over to him. 1 AA 070-71. On October 29, 2015, following Appellant's request for new counsel, the district court appointed Edward Hughes, Esq., as counsel. 1 AA 072. However, the district court made it clear that Appellant could not keep changing attorneys until he found the perfect counsel. 1 AA 072. This exchange occurred on October 29, 2015, eight months before Appellant filed his request for self-representation.

-

requires a court to entertain a request for self-representation when it would cause unreasonable delays and violate court rules, as it would have in this case.

Mr. Hughes confirmed as counsel on November 5, 2015. 1 AA 084. Appellant then requested two continuances, which led to months-long delays in the start of trial. 1 AA 084, 086, 113. Following the second request for continuance on March 3, 2016, the district court set a calendar call date of July 21, 2016, and a trial date of July 25, 2016. 1 AA 113.

Nevertheless, despite several months during which he could have requested to represent himself, Appellant waited until July 1, 2016, to request that he be allowed to represent himself. At that time, he demanded yet another continuance so that he could prepare himself. In particular, Appellant told the district court that, if the district court granted his motion, he would need more time to prepare for trial:

THE COURT: Okay. I'm not continuing the trial, sir. THE DEFENDANT: Unfortunately if I do get granted the <u>pro se</u> I would need a continuance just to prepare, do the research, as well as, you know, go over some of my files. I still don't have my entire discovery and I've been in custody for approximately a year.

2 AA 237. Thus, allowing Appellant to represent himself so close to the trial would have caused even more delay.

The district court has no obligation to entertain multiple requests for a continuance when doing so would cause unreasonable delays. See, e.g., Ex parte Tramner, 35 Nev. 56, 78, 126 P. 337, 345 (1912) ("a continuance in a criminal case is within the discretion of the court, and unless there is an abuse of its discretion its actions will be sustained.") Thus, the district court did not abuse its discretion in

denying Appellant's request for self-representation. Therefore, this claim should be denied.

# II. THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S CONVICTION

Appellant claims that there was insufficient evidence to support his convictions for Kidnapping, the Deadly Weapon enhancement, and coercion. This claim fails.

#### A. Standard of review

The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence upon appeal is whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Edwards v. State, 90 Nev. 255, 258-259, 524 P.2d 328, 331 (1974). In reviewing a claim of insufficient evidence, the relevant inquiry is "whether, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Origel-Candid v. State, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998). See also Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979). "Where there is substantial evidence to support the jury's verdict, it will not be disturbed on appeal." Smith v. State, 112 Nev. 1269, 1280, 927 P.2d 14, 20 (1996); Kazalyn v. State, 108 Nev. 67, 71, 825 P.2d 578, 581 (1992); Bolden v. State, 97 Nev. 71, 73, 624 P.2d 20, 20 (1981).

"[I]t is the jury's function, not that of the court, to assess the weight of the evidence and determine the credibility of the witnesses." Origel-Candido, 114 Nev. at 381, 956 P.2d at 1380; see Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221 (1979) (holding that it is the function of the jury to weigh the credibility of the identifying witnesses). In all criminal proceedings, a jury's verdict will not be disturbed upon appeal if there is evidence to support it. Azbill v. Stet, 88 Nev. 240, 252, 495 P.2d 1064, 1072 (1972). The evidence cannot be weighed by an appellate court. Id. The Court is not required to decide whether "it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319-20, 99 S. Ct. at 2789. This standard thus preserves the fact finder's role and responsibility "[to fairly] resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." Id. at 319, 99 S. Ct. at 2789.

A jury is free to rely on both direct and circumstantial evidence in returning its verdict. Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 609 P.2d 309 (1980). Also, the Nevada Supreme Court has consistently held that circumstantial evidence alone may sustain a conviction. Deveroux v. State, 96 Nev. 388, 391, 610 P.2d 722, 724 (1980) (citing Crawford v. State, 92 Nev. 456, 552 P.2d 1378 (1976).

### **B.** Appellant's conviction for Kidnapping

Under NRS 200.310, First Degree Kidnapping occurs where a person "willfully seizes, confines ... conceals, kidnaps or carries away a person by any means whatsoever ... for the purpose of ... robbery upon or from the person..." In order to sustain convictions for both robbery and kidnapping arising from the same course of conduct, any movement or restraint has to stand alone with independent significance from the act of robbery itself, create a risk of danger to the victim substantially exceeding that necessarily present in the crime of robbery, or involve movement, seizure, or restraint substantially in excess of that necessary to its completion. Mendoza v. State, 122 Nev. 267, 269, 130 P.3d 176, 177 (2006). The Nevada Supreme Court has clarified:

[W]here the movement or restraint serves to substantially increase the risk of harm to the victim over and above that necessarily present in an associate offense, i.e., robbery... or where the seizure, restraint or movement of the victim substantially exceeds that required to complete the associated crime charged, dual convictions under the kidnapping and robbery statutes are proper. Also . . . dual culpability is permitted where the movement, seizure or restraint stands alone with independent significance from the underlying charge.

Mendoza, 122 Nev. at 274-75 130 P.3d at 1780-81.

In <u>Gonzales</u>, the Nevada Court of Appeals considered a case in which the defendants entered through an open garage door and accosted the victim at gunpoint. Gonzales v. State, 131 Nev. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_ 354 P.3d 654, 656 (Nev. Ct. App. 2015). They

then forced her to enter her home. <u>Id.</u> Once inside the home, they continued to move her around. <u>Id.</u> at \_\_\_, 354 P.3d at 656-57. The Nevada Court of Appeals found that the victim's "movement substantially exceeded that necessary to complete the robbery and/or substantially increased the harm to her," and highlighted the significance of moving the victim from the open garage to the interior of the house:

The jury could have found that, by moving [the victim] from a public place into a private one, [the defendant] substantially increased the risk of harm to [her], because had [the victim] been detained in the open garage while her residence was ransacked, she might have been seen by passersby who could have called police, she might have had a chance to cry out to her neighbors for help, and she might even have found an easier opportunity to escape while her house was being searched room by room. But these opportunities were diminished once she was removed from public view. Furthermore, moving [the victim] from the open garage into the secluded interior of the locked house, and then throughout the house, may have psychologically emboldened the defendant to escalate the violence of the crime, as well as to extend the length of time over which it took place, once [the victim's] fate was less likely to be witnessed by her neighbors

<u>Id.</u> at \_\_\_\_, 354 P.3d at 665.

In this case, the jury heard that Appellant came up to Ana outside the store, while she had her keys and was unlocking the door, and forced her inside against her will. 3 AA 607-12. The movement was in excess of what was necessary to complete the robbery because Appellant could have taken Ana's keys and unlocked the door himself. Because he was a former manager at that Fast Bucks location, he likely

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